NASA/TM-2006-214291



Systems Analysis for a Venus Aerocapture Mission

Mary Kae Lockwood and Brett R. Starr Langley Research Center, Hampton, Virginia

John W. Paulson, Jr. SAIC, Hampton, Virginia

Dean A. Kontinos, Y. K. Chen, Bernard Laub, Joseph Olejniczak, and Michael J. Wright Ames Research Center, Moffett Field, California

Naruhisa Takashima Analytical Mechanics Associates, Inc., Hampton, Virginia

Carl G. Justus and Aleta L. Duval Computer Sciences Corporation, Huntsville, Alabama

Jeffery L. Hall, Robert W. Bailey, Robert J. Haw, Muriel A. Noca, and Thomas R. Spilker Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, California

Claude A. Graves, Christopher J. Cerimele, and Carlos H. Westhelle Johnson Space Center, Houston, Texas

Vernon W. Keller Marshall Space Flight Center, Huntsville, Alabama

Kenneth Sutton National Institute for Aerospace, Hampton, Virginia Since its founding, NASA has been dedicated to the advancement of aeronautics and space science. The NASA Scientific and Technical Information (STI) Program Office plays a key part in helping NASA maintain this important role.

The NASA STI Program Office is operated by Langley Research Center, the lead center for NASA's scientific and technical information. The NASA STI Program Office provides access to the NASA STI Database, the largest collection of aeronautical and space science STI in the world. The Program Office is also NASA's institutional mechanism for disseminating the results of its research and development activities. These results are published by NASA in the NASA STI Report Series, which includes the following report types:

- TECHNICAL PUBLICATION. Reports of completed research or a major significant phase of research that present the results of NASA programs and include extensive data or theoretical analysis. Includes compilations of significant scientific and technical data and information deemed to be of continuing reference value. NASA counterpart of peerreviewed formal professional papers, but having less stringent limitations on manuscript length and extent of graphic presentations.
- TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM. Scientific and technical findings that are preliminary or of specialized interest, e.g., quick release reports, working papers, and bibliographies that contain minimal annotation. Does not contain extensive analysis.
- CONTRACTOR REPORT. Scientific and technical findings by NASA-sponsored contractors and grantees.

- CONFERENCE PUBLICATION. Collected papers from scientific and technical conferences, symposia, seminars, or other meetings sponsored or co-sponsored by NASA.
- SPECIAL PUBLICATION. Scientific, technical, or historical information from NASA programs, projects, and missions, often concerned with subjects having substantial public interest.
- TECHNICAL TRANSLATION. Englishlanguage translations of foreign scientific and technical material pertinent to NASA's mission.

Specialized services that complement the STI Program Office's diverse offerings include creating custom thesauri, building customized databases, organizing and publishing research results ... even providing videos.

For more information about the NASA STI Program Office, see the following:

- Access the NASA STI Program Home Page at *http://www.sti.nasa.gov*
- E-mail your question via the Internet to help@sti.nasa.gov
- Fax your question to the NASA STI Help Desk at (301) 621-0134
- Phone the NASA STI Help Desk at (301) 621-0390
- Write to: NASA STI Help Desk NASA Center for AeroSpace Information 7121 Standard Drive Hanover, MD 21076-1320

NASA/TM-2006-214291



Systems Analysis for a Venus Aerocapture Mission

Mary Kae Lockwood and Brett R. Starr Langley Research Center, Hampton, Virginia

John W. Paulson, Jr. SAIC, Hampton, Virginia

Dean A. Kontinos, Y. K. Chen, Bernard Laub, Joseph Olejniczak, and Michael J. Wright Ames Research Center, Moffett Field, California

Naruhisa Takashima Analytical Mechanics Associates, Inc., Hampton, Virginia

Carl G. Justus and Aleta L. Duval Computer Sciences Corporation, Huntsville, Alabama

Jeffery L. Hall, Robert W. Bailey, Robert J. Haw, Muriel A. Noca, and Thomas R. Spilker Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, California

Claude A. Graves, Christopher J. Cerimele, and Carlos H. Westhelle Johnson Space Center, Houston, Texas

Vernon W. Keller Marshall Space Flight Center, Huntsville, Alabama

Kenneth Sutton National Institute for Aerospace, Hampton, Virginia

National Aeronautics and Space Administration

Langley Research Center Hampton, Virginia 23681-2199

March 2006

Available from:

NASA Center for AeroSpace Information (CASI) 7121 Standard Drive Hanover, MD 21076-1320 (301) 621-0390 National Technical Information Service (NTIS) 5285 Port Royal Road Springfield, VA 22161-2171 (703) 605-6000

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	iii
Abstract	1
Introduction	1
Background	2
Approach	4
Venus Science Areas of Interest	4
Navigation and Mission Design	5
Mission Analysis and Spacecraft Concept	7
Atmospheric Model	9
Aerocapture Guidance	9
Monte Carlo Simulations	12
Aeroheating and TPS Selection and Sizing	14
Conclusions	16
References	16

Abstract

Previous high level analysis has indicated that significant mass savings may be possible for planetary science missions if aerocapture is employed to place a spacecraft in orbit. In 2001 the In-Space Propulsion program identified aerocapture as one of the top three propulsion technologies for planetary exploration but that higher fidelity analysis was required to verify the favorable results and to determine if any supporting technology gaps exist that would enable or enhance aerocapture missions.

A series of three studies has been conducted to assess, from an overall system point of view, the merit of using aerocapture at Titan, Neptune and Venus. These were chosen as representative of a moon with an atmosphere, an outer giant gas planet and an inner planet. The Venus mission, based on desirable science from plans for Solar System Exploration and Principal Investigator proposals, to place a spacecraft in a 300km polar orbit was examined and the details of the study are presented in this paper.

Results indicate that a significant mass savings is possible when aerocapture is used instead of all propulsive or aerobraking missions. This equates into more mass for science and/or lower required launch vehicle performance. Based on this analysis there are no new technologies required to enable this mission. However, there are technologies in the areas of thermal protection and guidance, navigation and control which can significantly enhance the mission.

Introduction

In order to place a spacecraft in orbit around a planet or moon sufficient velocity must be removed such that the gravitational field of the target body will transform the approach hyperbolic trajectory into a closed elliptical orbit. Traditionally this has been accomplished using retro-rockets to provide deceleration forces to slow the spacecraft to the required velocity. For bodies that have an atmosphere, using atmospheric drag can be a viable method of delivering some or all of the deceleration forces. "Aerobraking," where a vehicle makes numerous passes through the atmosphere has been demonstrated, most recently during the Mars Odyssey mission, to be operationally viable while delivering an increase in mass to orbit over that which would have occurred if an all rocket mission were conducted. The Odyssey mission used a retro-rocket to remove sufficient velocity to place the spacecraft in a highly elliptical orbit about Mars and then aerobraking to remove remaining excess velocity to circularize the final science orbit. This aerobraking is operationally intense as it required some 315 passes through the Martian atmosphere over 77 days.

In "aerocapture" sufficient velocity is removed, due to the drag on the vehicle, during a single pass through the atmosphere that the spacecraft is placed in a closed orbit from the original hyperbolic orbit. This aerocapture maneuver, while unproven operationally, has been shown in simulation to be feasible and to provide even more significant mass savings than aerobraking because the propulsion system mass and propellant is essentially eliminated. Performance projections for aerocapture show a vehicle mass savings of between 40 and 80-percent, depending on destination, for an aerocapture vehicle compared to an all-propulsive chemical vehicle. In addition, aerocapture is applicable to multiple planetary and satellite exploration destinations of interest to the NASA Science Mission Directorate. These results led to the identification of aerocapture as one of the top three propulsion technologies for solar system exploration missions during the 2001 NASA In-Space Propulsion Program (ISP) technology prioritization effort, led by Marshall Space Flight Center, to rank current ISP propulsion technologies. An additional finding was that aerocapture needed a better system definition and that supporting technology gaps needed to be identified.

An aerocapture systems analysis effort focused on aerocapture at Titan with a rigid aeroshell system was completed in September 2002¹. Titan was selected as the initial destination for the study due to potential

interest in a follow-on to the on-going Cassini/Huygens mission. The systems analysis was conducted by a multi-center NASA team led by Langley Research Center which included scientists and engineers from Ames Research Center, Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Johnson Space Center, Langley Research Center, and Marshall Space Flight Center. Because of the success of this original study, aerocapture systems analyses have been completed for Neptune², as representative of the giant gas planets, and Venus as representative of terrestrial planets with an atmosphere. This report will present a summary of the results for the Venus Aerocapture Performance Review as presented on September 29, 2004³.

Background

An aerocapture flight profile schematic is shown in Figure 1. The vehicle approaches the planet/moon from an approach hyperbolic trajectory, shown at point 1, designed to achieve state conditions including flight path angle at atmospheric interface, point 2, within a predetermined range. Bank angle modulation, for rotation of the lift vector about the velocity vector, is initiated by the guidance system at point 3. The drag on the vehicle as it passes through the atmosphere provides reduction in velocity or negative "delta-V" required to capture the vehicle into the desired elliptical orbit. The amount of delta-V imparted to the vehicle is controlled by the on-board guidance by modulating bank angle, i.e., the direction of the vehicle's lift vector. A command of lift up during an atmospheric pass results in increased altitudes, nominally decreased atmospheric density, yielding reduced drag and reduced delta-V imparted. A command of lift down results in decreased altitudes, nominally increased atmospheric density, yielding increased drag and increased delta-V imparted. Bank angle modulation is commanded throughout the atmospheric pass from point 3 to point 5. By point 5, where the influence of aerodynamic forces is no longer significant, the energy depleted from the initial hyperbolic trajectory is that required to capture the vehicle into the desired elliptical orbit. At apoapsis, point 7, a small delta-V burn is performed to increase velocity to raise the periapsis out of the atmosphere.



Figure 1 Aerocapture Flight Profile

The aerocapture theoretical corridor is bounded by the full lift up trajectory and the full lift down trajectory for a nominal atmosphere and vehicle aerodynamics. Thus, the theoretical corridor width is defined by the difference between the entry flight path angle corresponding to a full lift down trajectory and the entry flight path angle corresponding to a full lift up trajectory for a nominal atmosphere and aerodynamics. If the vehicle enters the atmosphere at a flight path angle steeper than defined by the full lift up trajectory the vehicle lands. If the vehicle enters the atmosphere at a flight path angle shallower than that defined by the full down trajectory, the vehicle is not captured. Figure 2 illustrates the theoretical corridor and the effects of navigation, atmosphere and aerodynamic uncertainties on the theoretical corridor. The plot, using Titan as an example, shows the entry flight path angles for a full lift up and full lift down trajectory as a function of the atmosphere variable Fminmax, where Fminmax=0 is the nominal atmosphere, Fminmax=-1 is the lowest density atmosphere, Fminmax =+1 is the maximum density atmosphere. The plot is shown for a given vehicle, entry velocity, and target orbit. To first order, the aerocapture corridor required to accommodate atmospheric dispersions, navigation errors (delivery flight path angle), and aerodynamic uncertainties can be root sum squared to determine the total corridor required. If the theoretical corridor is significantly greater than the corridor width required, then the vehicle control authority is estimated to be adequate. However, factors such as high frequency atmospheric density perturbations are not included in this approach and can affect the results. Monte Carlo simulation analyses must be completed to assess feasibility and robustness.



Figure 2 Theoretical Aerocapture Entry Corridor

Concerns expressed regarding the risk of aerocapture have largely been in three areas: 1) atmosphere variability and uncertainty; 2) approach navigation delivery errors; and 3) aerodynamics uncertainty utilized to control capture. To address these concerns, the following approach can be taken in the design of the aerocapture system:

- 1. Based on available atmospheric measurements, quantify and model the physical range of atmosphere variability and uncertainty.
- 2. Quantify the approach navigation delivery errors, and incorporate navigation systems into the vehicle design to reduce errors.
- 3. Quantify the aerodynamic uncertainties including margin.
- 4. Select a vehicle L/D to provide adequate control authority.
- 5. Provide adequate vehicle control responsiveness to accommodate perturbations, including atmospheric perturbations.
- 6. Develop a robust guidance algorithm and system.
- 7. Evaluate aerocapture robustness through Monte Carlo simulation incorporating all variability, uncertainty, errors and dispersions.
- 8. Design the aerocapture system to provide margin *above* $3-\sigma$ success, in particular for first time flights and for high value payloads.

The objectives for the aerocapture systems studies were to provide higher fidelity analyses for validation and updates to aerocapture assumptions made in earlier mission studies, including performance, environments, mass properties, etc. The results of the analysis were to be provided to scientists, mission planners, technology planners, technologists and future mission managers. The feasibility, benefit and risk of aeroshell aerocapture system and technologies for each destination were to be defined. Technology gaps were to be identified and performance goals of key technologies defined.

Approach

The multi-center aerocapture systems analysis team included NASA engineers and scientists from Ames Research Center (ARC), the Jet Propulsion Laboratory (JPL), Johnson Space Center (JSC), Langley Research Center (LaRC), and Marshall Space Flight Center (MSFC). The various centers brought the following skills and capabilities to Venus study: ARC, initial aeroheating and TPS sizing estimates; JPL, mission design, science requirements, spacecraft initial design and mass properties, and navigation; JSC, vehicle guidance and performance; LaRC, team leadership, project integration, trajectory simulation, aerodynamics, vehicle performance and initial aeroheating estimates; and MSFC, atmospheric modeling.

Venus Science Areas of Interest

Based on the Science Priorities from the Solar System Exploration Decadal Survey⁴ and from the Principal Investigators' proposals for the Venus missions within the Discovery Program, four main science areas of interest have been identified.

- 1. A determination of the Venus atmosphere including the lower atmosphere composition, isotopic ratios, trace gasses and meteorology, measurement of thermal profiles, identification of the 4-dimensional structure, composition and aerosol size of the cloud layers, and the global circulation and super-rotation.
- 2. The determination of the surface composition and observation of active and recent volcanic processes including out gassing and heat loss mechanisms.
- 3. Determining the interactions between the surface and the atmosphere.
- 4. The interaction between the upper atmosphere and the solar wind including atmospheric mass loss rates and upper atmospheric heating.

These four areas will likely require instruments capable of measurements in the infrared (IR) window of the atmosphere for global imaging spectroscopy and in the microwave range for radiometry measurements to infer temperature, pressure and atmospheric opacity as a function of altitude. In addition, in order to determine the interaction between the upper atmosphere and the solar wind, measurements of low energy neutral and charged particles will be necessary.

A potential instrument suite, an IR Imaging Spectrometer, a Microwave Radiometer and a Low Energy Particle Detector, was chosen for this study to allow estimates of mass and volume for spacecraft packaging and sizing. The spacecraft must be placed in a near circular, polar orbit providing total planet coverage for an extended period of time. A polar orbit will not require orbit evolution as planetary rotation will provide the full longitudinal coverage and a 300km orbit, as will be discussed, will be stable with minimal need for station keeping for up to and beyond two full Earth years in duration. It is proposed that an aerocapture mission with an entry over the Venus north pole could deliver such a spacecraft to the desired science orbit at a significant mass savings as compared to other methods of orbital insertion at Venus.

Navigation and Mission Design

The interplanetary trajectory delivers the spacecraft to the atmospheric interface point at a planet or moon for entry through the atmosphere. In this case flight through the atmosphere will yield an aerocapture into orbit rather than an entry, descent and landing on the surface. Accurate navigation, that is, determining exactly where the spacecraft is relative to the ideal trajectory, is critical as the uncertainty in initial conditions has a large effect on the margins for successful aerocapture. "Misses" can lead to surface impact or having the spacecraft skip off of the atmosphere as the guidance and control systems are fairly limited in capability because of low vehicle performance. Even without a catastrophic failure, poor navigation and initial conditions can leave the spacecraft in a less than useful science orbit.

For this analysis, a launch from Earth between 21 October and 11 November, 2013, on a Type I trajectory, figure 3, with $C3=8.3 \text{ km}^2/\text{sec}^2$, yields an entry for aerocapture at Venus on 7 April, 2014 over the north pole. Nominal entry parameters will be a velocity of 11.25 km/sec, with an entry interface altitude of 150 km, at an entry flight path angle of -6.12 degrees, at latitude of 86 degrees and inclination of 90 degrees. After the aerocapture pass, this should yield a 300km circular polar orbit following a periapsis raise maneuver at entry plus 45 minutes, at apoapsis.



Figure 3 Type I Earth-Venus Trajectory With Entry Over The North Pole

As mentioned, uncertainty in the entry state can affect the resulting aerocapture pass. The current navigation model relies on doppler and range radiometric data only with 3-sigma measurement errors of 0.3mm/sec and 20m respectively. Navigation is limited to these because there is no Global Positioning System or "GPS" available away from the Earth and the obscuring atmosphere and lack of natural satellites at Venus render optical navigation imprecise at best and completely unusable at worst. The dominant sources of error in the navigation model are the Venus ephemeris and the knowledge of the vehicle state. However, because of the large numbers of Venus missions and observations, the ephemeris is quite well known.

Estimated errors in the vehicle's position are indicated in table 1 and result in flight path angle uncertainty of ± 0.4 to 0.2 degrees depending on whether the last update to the spacecraft inertial system is at entry minus 48 hours or 5 hours. Clearly the later the final update can occur the less error there will be in the integrated inertial system calculation of the vehicle state.

Doppler
& Range
10.7
4.6
86
6.5
10.7
±0.4
8.1
3.9
72
5.2
7.8
7.8 ±0.3
7.8 ±0.3
7.8 ±0.3
7.8 ±0.3
7.8 ±0.3 5.7 2.5
7.8 ±0.3 5.7 2.5 70
7.8 ±0.3 5.7 2.5 70 3.6
7.8 ±0.3 5.7 2.5 70 3.6 5.4

Table 1 Estimated Errors on Vehicle Position

Integration of inertial measurements does provide highly accurate state vectors as long as the systems can be properly updated. As indicated in table 2, all successful planetary entry probes have met or exceeded their required uncertainty in flight path angle. It is shown that the proposed Titan mission and Venus mission will exceed their requirements using updated doppler and range measurement only.

	Entry	Delivery	Delivery	Reqm't
Mission	FPA	Error	Time	-
Venus Aerocapture*	-6.12°	±0.4 °	E-2 d	<±0.5 >
Titan Explorer*	-36.8°	±0.6 °	E-2 d	<±1.0>
Mars Pathfinder	-14.2°	±0.4 °	E-2 d	±1.0
MPL	-12.0°	±1.0 °	E-2 d	~±0.5
MER	-11.5°	±0.2 °	E-2 d	±0.25
Stardust	-8.2°	~±0.8 °	E-2 d	±0.80
Galileo probe	-8.6°	±0.6 °	E-140 d	±1.4
Huvgens probe	-64.0°	±3.0°	E-21 d	±3.4

Table 2 Required Entry Uncertainty

* proposed aerocapture mission

<-> indicates proposed requirement

Mission Analysis and Spacecraft Concept

Basic mission parameters, already presented, provide an aerocapture 300x300 km polar orbit based on a 1090 kg spacecraft with a ballistic coefficient of 138 kg/m². Orbit circularization requires a 99 m/sec increase in velocity at apoapsis after some 4300 m/sec of velocity is removed during the single aerocapture pass.

This contrasts with an alternative aerobraking mission, figure 4, which requires some 122 days and 670 orbits before the final 300x300 km science orbit can be achieved. After removing 2300 m/sec by retrorocket for initial orbit insertion, another 2011 m/sec would be removed through 670 aerobraking orbits reducing the orbital period from 4.4 to 1.6 hours.



Figure 4 Alternative Aerobraking Mission

There are no "spacecraft design" issues for the Venus study as the same shape and general packaging approach that was used for the Titan were used for this analysis. In addition the successful aeroshell plus cruise stage used for the Mars Exploration Rover missions give high confidence that the proposed Venus Aerocapture Discovery Mission spacecraft is reasonable. Initial spacecraft mass and power estimates are shown in table 3 and indicate that to deliver 65 kg of science instruments to Venus will require that some 1165 kg of spacecraft must be launched.

Table 3 Spacecraft Mass and Power



Analysis of methods of orbital insertion shown in table 4, ranging from chemical propulsion with and without aerobraking to single pass aerocapture, indicate that significantly greater mass can be delivered through the use of aerocapture because more propulsion system and propellant mass is required than aeroshell thermal protection system, TPS, mass to produce the required final orbit.





Atmospheric Model

The Venus International Reference Atmosphere (VIRA)⁵ provides dependence of the Venus-GRAM mean atmospheric parameters on height, latitude and time-of-day or solar zenith angle. Basically, the VIRA characteristics are functions of altitude with low (0-100km) being a function of latitude only, middle (100-150 km) being a function of time-of-day only and high (150-250 km) being a function of solar zenith angle only. An example of density versus altitude is given in figure 5. From this information it can be seen that Venus has the most rapid changes in density with altitude of any of the planets which equates to very low scale heights, HS. For example, Mars, HS = 6.4-8.2 km, Earth, HS=8.4 km and Venus, HS= 3.5-4.7 km. This means that small changes in altitude can result in large changes in atmospheric density which, with all else being equal, will result in very narrow entry corridor widths.



Figure 5 Comparison of Density Versus Altitude for Several Planets and Satellites

The information for the VIRA is based on some 23 successful spacecraft, both orbiters and entry probes, that have been sent to Venus.

Aerocapture Guidance

The guidance system proposed for a Venus aerocapture mission is the Hybrid Predictor-corrector Aerocapture Scheme (HYPAS) which was developed in about 1989 for the now cancelled Aeroassist Flight Experiment (AFE). HYPAS was tested, compared and evaluated against other guidance algorithms in both three- and six-degree-of-freedom computer based simulation and selected for the AFE flight. Development of the actual flight code was on schedule when AFE was cancelled. Since then HYPAS has been used in numerous human and robotic mission studies performed at the Johnson Space Center for both Earth and Mars. HYPAS has thus been evaluated over a wide range of lift-to-drag ratios, ballistic coefficients, atmospheres, entry conditions and target orbits. It was the leading contender for the guidance system for the 2000 Mars Surveyor Program until aerocapture was eliminated from the mission plan. Likewise, it was considered for the CNES Mars 2005 Sample Return Orbiter and the 2007

Premier Missions but once again aerocapture was eliminated from the plans because it was not a proven technology. Prior to this study,⁶ it was the basis for the Titan⁷ and Neptune⁸ aerocapture mission analyses and significant improvements in performance and robustness have been achieved in the last 10 years.

The basic HYPAS algorithm guides a lifting vehicle through an atmosphere to a target exit orbit apoapsis and inclination. Given a set of initialization constants (L/D, Ballistic coefficient, atmospheric characteristics, etc.) and the target exit orbit HYPAS starts with the vehicle updated initial state and through sensed acceleration computes position and velocity. This is compared with values required to achieve the desired exit orbit and HYPAS commands the vehicle to bank to roll the lift vector in the proper direction to fly the spacecraft on the targeted trajectory through the atmosphere.

Specifically, HYPAS consists of two phases during the aerocapture pass shown in figure 6. The capture phase is intended to remove sufficient velocity to ensure vehicle capture. Bank angle commands are given to stabilize the trajectory and drive the vehicle toward equilibrium glide conditions with a desired vertical lift. The exit phase sets the vehicle up for the correct exit velocity to ensure the proper capture orbit apoapsis. By analytically predicting the velocity vector at atmospheric exit, at a constant altitude rate, bank angle is commanded such that the required velocity vector is achieved that will produce the correct orbit. The lift vector is adjusted through bank angle to null the error between the predicted and the target apoapsis. In addition, lateral logic can command a "roll reversal" maneuver as required to change the vehicle heading without affecting aerocapture to ensure that the final orbital inclination is achieved.



Figure 6 HYPAS Aerocapture Phases

The core of HYPAS is an analytically derived control algorithm based on deceleration due to drag and an altitude rate error feedback.

$$\left(\frac{L}{D}\right)\cos\phi_{cmd} = \frac{C_L}{C_D}\left[\cos\phi_{eq.gl.} - G_{\dot{h}}\left(\frac{\dot{h} - \dot{h}_{ref}}{\bar{q}}\right) + G_D\left(\frac{D - D_{ref}}{\bar{q}}\right)\right]$$

All references are computed and updated during flight. This analytic, non-iterative, on-the-fly approach leads to efficient code (320 source lines of FORTRAN code), minimal storage requirements and fast, consistent execution times.

To develop the final trajectory requires several steps. The theoretical maximum entry corridor is determined by examining the full-lift-up and full-lift-down trajectories which optimum guidance performance can maintain and yield a captured exit orbit. Sensitivity analysis is performed by varying density, flight path angle and C_L/C_D to determine what trajectories are actually captured by the guidance system resulting in a nominal guided trajectory through the entry corridor. Monte Carlo simulations are then conducted to determine guidance robustness by varying all parameters to +/- 3-sigma in a random sense to determine guidance failure rates. Guidance parameters can be fine tuned to reduce/eliminate failures and the Monte Carlo simulations can be re-run. This determines the final trajectory through the atmosphere which the day-of-flight guidance, navigation, and control will attempt to follow to aerocapture into the desired final orbit.

In developing the actual aerocapture trajectory the following initial assumptions were made: vehicle mass=900 kg, reference area= 5.515 m^2 , C_D =1.43, C_L =0.3575, C_L/C_D =0.25, entry velocity=11.25 km/sec, azimuth=0 deg, altitude=150 km, time, 7 April 2004, 12:00:00 VEN, target orbit, 300 km circular polar. Analysis shown in figure 7 indicates that for a 300 km orbit the entry flight path will be -6.12 degrees with a corridor width of +/- 0.76 degrees.



Figure 7 Aerocapture Corridor Width Versus Target Apoapsis

This rather narrow corridor width is caused by the small scale height mentioned previously. Very minor variations in altitude yield large variations in density which significantly affect the vehicle performance. This is exacerbated by the relatively low roll rate available to this class of vehicles which limits the ability of the spacecraft to respond to changes in performance by reorienting the lift vector to fly up, down, right or left as required by guidance. This can lead to conditions where the spacecraft enters the exit phase of the aerocapture pass before commanded roll

maneuvers have been completed. Solutions are to provide increased roll control authority and/or force the algorithm to allow time for the completion of desired maneuvers.

A nominal aerocapture profile has been developed. Initial assessments were conducted using SORT with the final analysis performed directly in POST. The guidance has been tuned for roll rates of 20 and 30 deg/sec along with ballistic coefficients of 114 and 228 kg/m² ensuring that the final vehicle will fall somewhere between those values. The low atmospheric scale height does present some challenges and while the current guidance algorithm captures 96-percent of the theoretical entry corridor, it may be desirable to push the roll rate to the 30 deg/sec value.

Monte Carlo Simulations

A complete simulation is modeled in POST. Beginning with final navigation and state vectors at 60 seconds prior to atmospheric interface, defined as 150km altitude, the simulation flies an initial -6.12 degree flight path through the capture phase, exit phase to initial apoapsis and the periapsis raise maneuver and finally the orbit circularization maneuver at what would have been the periapsis. The models required for the POST simulation are the initial state provided by the JPL navigation model, the Venus atmosphere model, 70 degree sphere cone trimmed aerodynamic and aeroheating databases, HYPAS guidance and the bank angle controller.

The simulation assumes a 70 degree sphere cone with $C_L/C_D = 0.25$. The Venus atmosphere model, discussed earlier, assumes random high frequency perturbations to approximate uncertainties in the atmosphere. HYPAS guidance is tuned for the nominal entry with a target apoapsis of 300 km. The vehicle is trimmed using nominal aerodynamics (C_N =+/- 3-percent and C_D =+/- 5-percent) with uncertainties in center of gravity location (X_{CG}/L =+/- 0.012-percent and Z_{CG}/D =+/-0.026-percent) applied and variations in trim angle of attack (α =+/-2.0deg) simulating uncertainties in pitching moment. All variations applied are to 3-sigma in a normal distribution. The bank angle controller had a maximum roll rate of 30 deg/sec and a maximum roll acceleration of 5 deg/sec².

As indicated in figure 8, 2001 test cases for roll rates of 20 deg/sec and 30 deg/sec were captured with a relatively small variation in initial apoapsis. While the variation in results is greater for the 20 deg/sec cases, all of the initial periapsis projections are all within the on board delta-V capability of the vehicle to perform the periapsis raise maneuver, thus all cases are considered to be successfully captured.



Figure 8 Comparison of Apoapsis vs. Periapsis Dispersions, Decreased Max Bank Rate vs. Reference Max Bank Rate

Given that the aerocapture successfully placed the spacecraft into the proper 300km circular, polar orbit, station keeping requirements to maintain the orbit for a two year mission were examined. Various orbits from 200 to

300km were analyzed to determine the total on-board delta-V in m/sec required to maintain the orbit. The proposed spacecraft will be similar to the Magellan spacecraft and the following assumptions are based on that spacecraft: 18.1 kg/m² ballistic coefficient, 630 kg on orbit mass, 17.41 m² frontal area continuously normal to the molecular flowfield with a $C_D=2.0$.

Even at 300 km altitude there is enough residual atmospheric drag to slowly degrade the orbit. As shown in figure 9, the orbit would be allowed to drop to 295 km at which time the spacecraft would re-boost itself back to 300 km. At the end of the two year mission the orbit would be allowed to reach 295 km.



Figure 9 Station Keeping Strategy

The total delta-V required to re-boost the spacecraft for orbits from 200 to 350 km is shown in figure 10. Clearly the lower the orbit, the higher the drag and the more re-boosting that would be required. At the planned 300 km orbit this amounts to only about 1 m/sec total delta-V over the two year mission.



Figure 10 Delta-V Required for Station Keeping on a Two Year Mission

Aeroheating and TPS Selection and Sizing

In aerocapture, when the spacecraft passes deep enough into the atmosphere to remove enough velocity for orbit capture, it will undergo significant aeroheating. Since approach hyperbolic velocities are high compared to orbital velocities, heating during the atmospheric entry can well be the most significant design parameter. As such, attention to the thermal protection system can be of extreme importance. Since the objective of the initial Venus Study was performance, only a quick look at aeroheating environments was undertaken. Flowfield calculations were performed at LaRC with the LAURA code and at ARC with the DPLR code. These codes are similar in approaches and capabilities. Modeling assumptions for Venus entry included thermal and chemical non-equilibrium, radiative equilibrium wall boundary conditions with emissivity of 0.9, super catalytic wall boundary layer condition, laminar and turbulent (Balwin-Lomax) boundary layer and multi-component diffusion model with a 15 specie Venus kinetic model⁹. In addition, heating due to shock-layer radiation is computed in an uncoupled manner using NEQAIR at ARC and RADEQUIL at LaRC. The effects of coupling between the radiation and the flowfield are accounted for via engineering relations¹⁰. Radiation effects include both line and continuum radiation and assume a Boltzmann distribution of excited states.

Comparisons of computed results with the design and flight results for the Pioneer Venus (PV) spacecraft are shown in figure 11. Understanding this comparison is essential to calibrate predicted results to quantify the uncertainty and risk in the current design. Convective heating rates are in good agreement among design, flight and DPLR results. The current NEQAIR results are higher than the PV design or flight radiative heating.



Figure 11 Comparisons of Predictions and Pioneer Venus Flight Heating Results

Tangent slab corrections, emission of CO and CN, as well as possible non-Boltzmann distribution of excited states must be examined to improve predictions. In addition there are data timing issues with the PV flight results which make data analysis difficult. The codes predict different levels of turbulent heating as well as radiative heating, and these differences must be examined as well.

The CFD codes employed (LAURA and DPLR) are in reasonable agreement for laminar flows, but predict different levels of turbulent heating. The radiation codes (NEQAIR and RADEQUIL) also differ significantly in their baseline heating predictions in this environment. However, the short duration of the system study did not allow for these differences to be investigated in any detail. These code-to-code differences must be examined to reduce the uncertainty in the aeroheating environment and associated TPS sizing estimates.

That said, estimates of heating for the aerocapture mission were made along the design trajectories discussed earlier and are shown in Figure 12. Peak zero-margin turbulent conductive heating rates were on the order of 500-600W/cm², and peak radiative heating rates were about 500-700W/cm². Net heat loads on the overshoot trajectory were about 55kJ/cm². No analysis of afterbody heating was performed during this study.

Based on these results a TPS selection was undertaken. The very large heat loads make fully dense carbon phenolic (the material on Pioneer Venus) unattractive since at these conditions it is an inefficient ablator leading to large system mass. Two other candidates with flight heritage exist that could likely handle this environment; PICA, which is flying on Stardust and carbon-carbon multi-layer, which was flown on Genesis. TPS sizings were carried out for each of there materials and the results show that PICA provides a somewhat lower (33%) mass of 78kg. However, it is likely that both of these materials would need to be fabricated as tiles for a vehicle of this size. No tile system has ever been subjected to the heating levels predicted for this mission and any forebody tiles would require robust gap filler and seal materials. In contrast, materials like the Applied Research Associates (ARA) PhenCarb family, if fabricated by the "Strip Collar Bonding Approach" (SCBA), would yield a continuous forebody TPS. At the least these results indicate that serious TPS development and qualification will be needed, as a strongly enhancing technology, for this mission.

- Initial convective and radiative aeroheating results computed with LAURA/RADEQUAL and DPLR/NEQAIR at pk heating pt on 99.87% pk heat load M.C. trajectory; highest heating location on vehicle for radiative and convective; coupling estimate included; no additional uncertainty included
- Results utilized to scale stagnation convective aeroheating indicator for initial aeroheating loads estimate
- TPS analysis completed for 2 materials, PICA and Genesis CC
- Future work: aeroheating methods- reduce uncertainty in mass and shape change; TPS sizing of ARA PhenCarb – potential non-tile option; PICA and Genesis tile approach for 2.65m diameter vehicle



Figure 12 Initial Aeroheating and TPS Sizing

Conclusions

This systems analysis study of a polar orbit mission to Venus has demonstrated that aerocapture, from a performance perspective, is feasible and robust with 100-percent of the analysis cases resulting in useful captured science orbits. Top level analysis indicates that aerocapture will provide significant mass margins for launches on Delta 2925H and may allow launch opportunities for the standard Delta 2925. Performance sensitivities to both ballistic coefficient and vehicle roll rate were explored.

Based on this study there are no enabling technologies required to accomplish this mission. There are, however, strongly enhancing technologies that will significantly help such missions. Aeroheating analysis tools which will improve calculations for mass and shape changes caused by TPS ablation providing improved estimation and analysis of uncertainties. If TPS were to use PICA, then manufacturing, testing and flight certification of PICA and Genesis materials will be required. If ARA PhenCarb TPS were to be used, then a strip collar bonding approach to provide continuous forebody TPS must be developed and flight certified. Improvements in the guidance system to further vehicle performance robustness to accommodate the small atmospheric scale height at Venus was identified as an enhancing technology.

References

- Lockwood, Mary Kae, Titan Aeorcapture Systems Analysis, AIAA-2003-4799, 39th AIAA/ASME/SAE/ASEE Joint Propulsion Conference and Exhibit, Huntsville, Alabama, July 20-23, 2003.
- 2. Lockwood, Mary Kae, Neptune Aerocapture Systems Analysis, AIAA-2004-4951, AIAA Atmospheric Flight Mechanics Conference and Exhibit, Providence, Road Island, August 16-19, 2004.
- Lockwood, Mary Kae and Team, Venus Aerocapture Performance Analysis Review, Presentation 24 September, 2004.
- 4. New Frontiers in the Solar System an Integrated Exploration Strategy, Solar System Exploration Survey, Space Studies Board, National Research Council, July, 2002.
- 5. Kliore, A.J., V. I. Moroz, and G. M. Keating (editors), "The Venus International Reference Atmosphere", Advances in Space Research, vol. 5, no. 11, 1985, pages 1-304, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1986.
- Starr, Brett R. and Westhelle, Carlos H., Aerocapture Performance Analysis of a Venus Explorer Mission, AIAA-2005-5912, AIAA Atmospheric Flight Mechanics Conference and Exhibit, San Francisco, California, August 15-18, 2005.
- Masciarelli, J.P., NASA's Johnson Space Flight Center, Houston, TX, Queen, E.M., NASA's Langley Research Center, Hampton, VA, "Guidance Algorithms for Aerocapture at Titan", AIAA-2003-4804, Conference Proceedings of the 39th AIAA/ASME/SAE/ASEE Joint Propulsion Conference and Exhibit, Huntsville, Alabama, July 20-23, 2003.
- Masciarelli, J.P., Westhelle, C.H., Graves, C.A., NASA's Johnson Space Flight Center, Houston, TX, "Aerocapture Guidance Performance for the Neptune Orbiter", AIAA-2004-4954, Conference Proceedings of the AIAA Atmospheric Flight Mechanics Conference and Exhibit, Providence, Rhode Island, August 16-19, 2004.
- 9. Park, Chul, Howe, John T., Jaffe, Richard, L. and Candler, Graham V., Review of Chemical-Kinetic Problems of Future NASA Missions, Journal of Thermophysics and Heat Transfer, Vol. 8, no.1, pages 9-

23, 1994.

10. Tauber, M. and Wakefield R., Heating Environment and Predictions During Jupiter Entry, Journal of Spacecraft and Rockets, Vol. 8, no. 3, pages 630-636, 1971.

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE					Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188			
The public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to any penalty for failing to comply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently valid OMB control number. PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR FORM TO THE ABOVE ADDRESS .								
1. REPORT DA	ATE (DD-MM-Y)	(YY) 2. REPO	DRT TYPE			3. DATES COVERED (From - To)		
01-	03 - 2006 SUBTITI F	Technic	cal Memorandum		5a C(
4. III LE AND SUBILILE Systems Analysis for a Venus Aerocanture Mission					Sa. CONTRACT NOMBER			
5	5b. GF			RANT NUMBER				
5c. PRC					ROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER			
6. AUTHOR(S)				5d. PF	ROJECT NUMBER		
Lockwood, Mary Kae; Starr, Brett R.; Paulson, John W, Jr.; Kontinos, Dean A; Chen, Y. K.; Laub, Bernard; Olejniczak, Joseph; Wright, Michael J; Takashima, Naruhisa; Justus, Carl G.; Duvall, Aleta L.; Hall, Jeffery L; Bailey, Robert W: Haw, Robert L: Noca, Muriel A : Spilker, Thomas B:					5e. TASK NUMBER			
Graves, Claud	le A.; Cerimel	e, Christopher	J; Westhelle, Carlos I	H; Keller,	5f. WC	DRK UNIT NUMBER		
Vernon W; Sutton, Kenneth 7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) NASA Langley Research Center						8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER		
Hampton, VA 23681-2199					L-19237			
9. SPONSOR	NG/MONITORI	NG AGENCY NA	ME(S) AND ADDRESS	(ES)		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)		
National Aeronautics and Space Administration						NASA		
Washington, DC 20546-0001					11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT			
						NUMBER(S)		
12. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY STATEMENT								
Unclassified -	Unlimited							
Subject Categ	ory 18 NASA CASL	(301) 621-039	0					
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES								
An electronic version can be found at http://ntrs.nasa.gov								
14. ABSTRACT								
Previous high level analysis has indicated that significant mass savings may be possible for planetary science missions if aerocapture is employed to place a spacecraft in orbit. In 2001 the In-Space Propulsion program identified aerocapture as one of the top three propulsion technologies for planetary exploration but that higher fidelity analysis was required to verify the favorable results and to determine if any supporting technology gaps exist that would enable or enhance aerocapture missions. A series of three studies has been conducted to assess, from an overall system point of view, the merit of using aerocapture at Titan, Neptune and Venus. These were chosen as representative of a moon with an atmosphere, an outer giant gas planet and an inner planet. The Venus mission, based on desirable science from plans for Solar System Exploration and Principal Investigator proposals, to place a spacecraft in a 300km polar orbit was examined and the details of the study are presented in this paper.								
15. SUBJECT TERMS								
acrocapture, systems anarysis, venus								
16. SECURITY	CLASSIFICATI	ON OF:	17. LIMITATION OF	18. NUMBER	19a.	NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON		
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE	ADOIKAUI	PAGES	S	TI Help Desk (email: help@sti.nasa.gov)		
U	U	U	UU	23	19b.	(301) 621-0390		

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18